

Annual Review of Psychology Quantum Cognition

Emmanuel M. Pothos¹ and Jerome R. Busemeyer²

¹Department of Psychology, City University of London, London EC1V 0HB, United Kingdom; email: Emmanuel.Pothos.1@city.ac.uk

²Department of Psychological and Brain Sciences, Indiana University, Bloomington, Indiana 47405, USA; email: jbusemey@indiana.edu

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2022. 73:749–78

First published as a Review in Advance on September 21, 2021

The Annual Review of Psychology is online at psych.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-033020-123501

Copyright © 2022 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved



www.annualreviews.org

- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Keywords

quantum theory, Bayesian theory, heuristics and biases, fallacies, decision-making

Abstract

Uncertainty is an intrinsic part of life; most events, affairs, and questions are uncertain. A key problem in behavioral sciences is how the mind copes with uncertain information. Quantum probability theory offers a set of principles for inference, which align well with intuition about psychological processes in certain cases: cases when it appears that inference is contextual, the mental state changes as a result of previous judgments, or there is interference between different possibilities. We motivate the use of quantum theory in cognition and its key characteristics. For each of these characteristics, we review relevant quantum cognitive models and empirical support. The scope of quantum cognitive models encompasses fallacies in decisionmaking (such as the conjunction fallacy or the disjunction effect), question order effects, conceptual combination, evidence accumulation, perception, over-/underdistribution effects in memory, and more. Quantum models often formalize psychological ideas previously expressed in heuristic terms, allow unified explanations of previously disparate findings, and have led to several surprising, novel predictions. We also cast a critical eye on quantum models and consider some of their shortcomings and issues regarding their further development.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	750
MOTIVATION FOR QUANTUM PROBABILITY THEORY	
IN COGNITION	751
BASIC DESCRIPTION OF QUANTUM PROBABILITY THEORY	756
QUANTUM INTERFERENCE	759
Probability Judgments	759
Question Order Effects	760
Decision-Making	761
Memory Recognition	761
Comparison with Alternative Models	762
SUPERPOSITION AND STATE VECTOR COLLAPSE	764
Comparison with Alternative Models	765
REPRESENTING SIMILARITY STRUCTURE IN VECTOR SPACES	765
Comparison with Alternative Models	766
ENTANGLEMENT	767
Comparison with Alternative Models	768
QUANTUM DYNAMICS	768
Comparisons with Alternative Models	769
INTEGRATING CLASSICAL AND NONCLASSICAL PROBABILITIES	770
SUMMARY EVALUATION OF QUANTUM PROBABILITY	
THEORY MODELS	770
CONCLUDING COMMENTS	772

INTRODUCTION

Information in our environment is mostly uncertain, and much of cognition is about managing this uncertainty to generate useful conclusions. For example, we worry about things like whether it will rain tonight (a natural worry of Londoners); whether next year will be free from dangerous viruses; and the cause of some funny spots suddenly appearing on our child's face. What are the foundations for our capacity for probabilistic inference? This is a question which encompasses research related to three Nobel Prizes in Economics (awarded to Herbert Simon in 1978, Daniel Kahneman in 2002, and Richard Thaler in 2017), a philosophical debate that goes back to antiquity, and surprising implications for norms for correct reasoning.

Probabilities are used to quantify uncertainty and make inferences from uncertain premises. A probability theory is a set of mathematical axioms for how to combine and update probabilities. This review concerns three overarching traditions regarding the relevance of probability theory to cognition. The first is Bayesian/classical probability theory (CPT). CPT axioms embody some of our basic intuitions regarding how to deal with probabilities. In a famous quote by Laplace (cited in Perfors et al. 2011, p. 313), CPT is described as "nothing but common sense reduced to calculation." The axioms of CPT number only four, yet they are the foundation of a mathematical edifice which encompasses any kind of probabilistic reasoning. CPT cognitive models have clearly attracted great interest in the last few decades (Griffiths et al. 2010, Oaksford & Chater 1994, Tenenbaum et al. 2011). Second, there are heuristics and biases, a toolbox of rules which offer fast and frugal accounts that describe numerous behavioral findings. Heuristics and biases have also attracted significant interest (Gigerenzer & Todd 1999, Kahneman et al. 1982). Third, there

is quantum probability theory (QPT), which is a newer direction and is the focus of the present review. Like CPT, QPT is a general probability theory, that is, a set of rules for how to combine and update probabilities. QPT and CPT axioms are different, so we often reach different conclusions when we employ QPT versus CPT. We can consider any of the questions above (e.g., "Will it rain tonight?") and compute the corresponding probabilities with either CPT or QPT.

Some readers may have come across quantum mechanics, which is a theory of physics. The pioneering physicists who developed quantum mechanics soon realized that CPT was not suitable for this new physical theory—it seemed that uncertain information for microscopic particles obeyed probability rules different from the familiar ones from CPT. So, together with a new physics theory, they developed a new theory of probability as well—what we call QPT. QPT is the theory of probability from quantum mechanics, without any of the physics. In fact, Bohr (1958), one of the founding fathers of quantum theory, was one of the earliest to propose that principles of quantum physics, such as complementarity, could be applied outside of physics to human knowledge (for a recent example, see Lu & Busemeyer 2014). An important qualification is that the use of QPT in cognitive science makes no assumptions regarding the nature of brain neurophysiology; all current quantum cognitive models do not rely on a quantum brain hypothesis, which has been heatedly contested (Hameroff 2007, Litt et al. 2006).

As with the physicists who developed quantum mechanics, some pioneering researchers in psychology have asked whether there are cognitive phenomena for which CPT or heuristic explanations are not sufficiently satisfactory. These researchers initiated the quantum cognition research program (Aerts & Aerts 1995, Atmanspacher et al. 2002, Bordley 1998, Khrennikov 1999). However, the application of these ideas to empirical data started becoming more widespread after the publication of a special issue of the *Journal of Mathematical Psychology* about 10 years ago (Bruza & Gabora 2009). Overviews of the key ideas and advances are presented by Ashtiani & Azgomi (2015), Bruza et al. (2015b), Busemeyer & Bruza (2011), and Pothos & Busemeyer (2013). Haven & Khrennikov (2013) and Wendt (2015) describe applications beyond psychology in social sciences. These references also serve as tutorials for the QPT formalism (along with Yearsley 2017 and Yearsley & Busemeyer 2016). Note that describing these contributions as the quantum cognition research program has two purposes. First, it brings together models which employ broadly similar mathematical tools and concepts, those from QPT. Second, it implies a commitment to the specific way in which probabilities are computed, from quantum mechanics, and the associated mathematical theorems (the Born rule, Gleason's theorem, the Kochen-Specker and Bell theorems, the Lüders postulate).

The general questions which guide this review include the following: How general is the applicability of probabilistic reasoning in cognitive processing? If we see a part of cognition as a probabilistic engine, when is the mind better described by CPT versus QPT principles? What is the importance of context in cognition, and how can we formalize contextual influences? How can prior decisions shape subsequent thought?

MOTIVATION FOR QUANTUM PROBABILITY THEORY IN COGNITION

For the average psychologist, the proposal that quantum theory might have something to do with cognition initially shades between ambitious and implausible. Early QPT models have been met with skepticism. These early models therefore had to focus on the behavioral findings that have proved the most persistently challenging for classical (CPT or otherwise) formalisms. In this section, we outline some of the findings which initially motivated QPT models, reserving additional empirical coverage for subsequent sections.



Figure 1

A classical probability theory representation for the conjunction fallacy from Tversky & Kahneman (1983). We consider a large set of all possible realizations for Linda that we can imagine. The red and blue ellipses correspond to the subsets of possible Lindas consistent with the bank teller and feminist properties (other subsets correspond to other properties). The conjunction is the intersection between these two subsets. The "real" Linda is shown in red, representing all possible information about Linda.

CPT inference is considered to be rational (de Finetti et al. 1993). Additionally, employing CPT forces decisions to be consistent with the basic CPT axioms. These and other powerful arguments have been made for adopting CPT in inference (Griffiths et al. 2010). So why are there apparent discrepancies between CPT prescription and human behavior? The key problem is that full CPT inference can be intractably complex for many real problems; even limited situations can require effortful computation. Limiting CPT to make processes manageable by realistic agents is the fundamental problem of bounded rationality (Simon 1955)—and of course there is no single answer. Moreover, there is abundant evidence that human inference is characterized by a mix of more analytic and more intuitive inference, where the former can sometimes be associated with more accurate approximations of CPT processes (Elqayam & Evans 2013, Fernbach & Sloman 2009, Kahneman 2001, Sloman 1996).

Despite the many successes of CPT, researchers have accumulated a large body of empirical findings that are hard (though not impossible) to reconcile with CPT cognitive models. These findings challenge the cognitive ubiquity of some of the most basic CPT intuitions. Consider the conjunction fallacy (Tversky & Kahneman 1983) (see **Figure 1**). In one example, participants were told of a hypothetical person, Linda, who was described as looking like a feminist but not a bank teller. Participants were asked to rank-order the likelihood of several statements about Linda. The critical statements were that Linda is a feminist, Linda is a bank teller, and Linda is a feminist and a bank teller. The results indicated that

P(feminist) > P(feminist & bank teller) > P(bank teller),

where P(X) indicates the probability of event X. The conjunction fallacy refers to the finding that the conjunction is judged more probable than the bank teller possibility alone.

Why is this result problematic for CPT? The formal foundations of CPT are essentially set theory. To compute CPT probabilities, we calculate fractions for the outcomes of interest relative to all possible outcomes. This is best explained with the conjunction fallacy variant presented by Tentori et al. (2004), which concerned Scandinavian individuals and the probabilities that they might have blue eyes and blond hair. The key finding was

P(blond hair & blue eyes) > P(blond hair).

P(blond hair) would be computed as the fraction of blond Scandinavians relative to all Scandinavians. We can imagine enumerating Scandinavian individuals, selecting out the ones with blond hair, and then from this subset selecting out the ones with blue eyes (and blond hair). It seems clearly incorrect that there will be more Scandinavian individuals in the conjunctive set than in the set corresponding to the individual premise, yet this is what people do—and we, erudite readers, may also find it hard to avoid the intuition that the conjunction seems more probable than the individual statements (Gilboa 2000). Tentori et al.'s (2004) formulation makes the set-theoretic structure of the problem obvious, but the CPT situation is identical whether we employ frequentist probabilities (as in Tentori et al. 2004) or probabilities as subjective degrees of belief (Tversky & Kahneman 1983). The conjunction fallacy is an extensively replicated finding and has resisted all kinds of disambiguation manipulations to ensure that participants correctly understand the conjunction and individual statements as intended (as opposed to, for example, understanding 'bank teller' as 'bank teller & not feminist'; Dulany & Hilton 1991, Moro 2009).

There is also a disjunction fallacy—the probability that Linda is a bank teller or a feminist is judged to be less likely than the probability that she is a feminist alone (Bar-Hillel & Neter 1993, Carlson & Yates 1989)—and other, related fallacies including unpacking effects (Rottenstreich & Tversky 1997, Sloman et al. 2004), as well as more complex conjunctions (Gronchi & Strambini 2017, Winman et al. 2010). Conjunction and disjunction types of fallacies also occur in conceptual combinations called overextensions and underextensions, respectively (Aerts et al. 2016; Hampton 1988a,b), and in memory processes (Brainerd & Reyna 2008; Brainerd et al. 1999, 2015).

Next, consider a Prisoner's Dilemma game in which two players make a choice to defect or cooperate and receive payoffs depending on their combined choices. Shafir & Tversky (1992) designed a study using this game to test a rational axiom of decision-making called the sure-thing principle (Savage 1954). According to this principle, if under each possible state of the world one always prefers action A over B, then one should prefer action A over B even when the state of the world is unknown. Shafir & Tversky (1992) tested this principle by examining three conditions: one in which a player was informed that their opponent had already defected, another in which the player was informed that the opponent cooperated, and a third in which the opponent's play remained unknown. Many players chose to defect when the opponent defected and when the opponent cooperated, but then switched and decided to cooperate in the unknown case, violating the sure-thing principle. This result, called the disjunction effect, shows a violation of the law of total probability (**Figure 2**). As for conjunction fallacies, violations of the law of total probability challenge CPT intuition at a basic level. The number of times a participant cooperates or defects:

$$\begin{split} P(\mathbf{C}_{\text{participant}}) &= P(\mathbf{C}_{\text{participant}} \And \mathbf{C}_{\text{opponent}}) + P(\mathbf{C}_{\text{participant}} \And \mathbf{D}_{\text{opponent}}) \\ &= P(\mathbf{C}_{\text{participant}} | \mathbf{C}_{\text{opponent}}) \cdot P(\mathbf{C}_{\text{opponent}}) + P(\mathbf{C}_{\text{participant}} | \mathbf{D}_{\text{opponent}}) \cdot P(\mathbf{D}_{\text{opponent}}). \end{split}$$

This expression involving conditional probabilities corresponds to what is measured and shows that $P(C_{\text{participant}})$ is bounded between $P(C_{\text{participant}}|C_{\text{opponent}})$ and $P(C_{\text{participant}}|D_{\text{opponent}})$.

Contrary to this prediction, the probability to cooperate in the unknown condition was 37%, which is higher than the probabilities to cooperate both when the opponent was known to defect



Figure 2

On the left versus right, the player decides to defect or cooperate without versus with knowledge of the opponent's action, respectively. The law of total probability means that the number of times the player cooperates is cleanly split into the number of times the player cooperates and the opponent cooperates versus defects (there is the same number of blue/red dots in both panels). C_p and D_p refer to the player cooperating or defecting, and C_o and D_o refer to the opponent cooperating or defecting.

(3%) and when the opponent was known to cooperate (16%) (Shafir & Tversky 1992; see also Busemeyer et al. 2006, Croson 1999, Kvam et al. 2014, Tesař 2020). Similar results were obtained in other tasks, notably a two-stage gambling task (Broekaert et al. 2020, Tversky & Shafir 1992) and a categorization–decision paradigm (Townsend et al. 2000, Wang & Busemeyer 2016).

Another example of a puzzling result lacking a natural classical explanation concerns order effects in judgment. A popular example is the following. Using a Gallup opinion poll, Moore (2002) examined the probability of "yes" responses to the pair of questions "Is Clinton honest?" and "Is Gore honest?" presented in both possible orders. When the Clinton question was first, Moore (2002) observed $P(\text{Clinton}_{\text{ves}}) = 0.50$ and $P(\text{Gore}_{\text{ves}}) = 0.68$. When the order was reversed, $P(\text{Gore}_{\text{ves}}) = 0.60$ and $P(\text{Clinton}_{\text{ves}}) = 0.57$. This is a surprising difference, both because the putative cause, the change in ordering, appears innocuous and because of the practical importance of the result: For many public debates, Gallup polls can have a substantial influence on opinion, especially for undecided individuals. Similar order effects have been reported in assessing evidence, for example, concerning the probability of a disease given two pieces of evidence presented in different orders, with participants who were medical professionals (Bergus et al. 1998) and in mock jury decision situations (McKenzie et al. 2002, Trueblood & Busemeyer 2011). Order effects also occur with similarity judgments. For example, Tversky (1977) found that judging the similarity of Korea to China produced higher ratings than judging these two countries the other way around. Explanations for question order effects invariably invoke ideas related to the constructive nature of judgment; for example, answers to earlier questions activate thoughts which affect our perspective on later ones (Hogarth & Einhorn 1992, Schwarz 2007). These order effects can naturally be explained by the noncommutative nature of QPT. However, they are more challenging for CPT, because conjunction in CPT is commutative, which means that order does not matter: P(A & B) = P(B & A). Commutativity sometimes makes intuitive sense, but again we are confronted with empirical situations which diverge from this CPT intuition.

People are sensitive to measurements, such as asking an opinion, and taking a measurement can change their future behavior. This is difficult for CPT theories, because when one is asked a question (e.g., "Is Linda a feminist?"), one's answer is based on existing (albeit not accessed) knowledge and the answer does not create any new information. No Bayesian updating is required, so the answer should not affect responses to future questions. Surprisingly, human cognition sometimes does not work like this. Asking for an opinion or making a judgment can apparently change the relevant mental state, as evidenced by effects on subsequent behavior (Ariely & Norton 2008, Brehm 1956, Lichtenstein & Slovic 2006, Schwarz 2007, Sharot et al. 2010). For example, in a hypothetical legal case, Holyoak & Simon (1999) showed that the evaluation of arguments changed to become more consistent with the produced verdict. Such effects can be called constructive influences, because the act of, for instance, making a decision helps construct a particular mental state. These constructive influences naturally agree with QPT because it was originally formulated by physicists to account for the fact that measurement can change and disturb the state of a system (a cognitive system in our case).

The tension between such so-called fallacies and (especially) CPT is not insurmountable, so these findings do not disprove the applicability of CPT. Below, we review some principled attempts to reconcile fallacies, such as the conjunction fallacy, with CPT (Costello & Watts 2014, Tentori et al. 2013, Zhu et al. 2020). However, for many researchers, fallacies do reveal a persistent tension between fundamental CPT principles and human intuition. Below, we also consider psychological accounts of the fallacies outside CPT, spanning ideas across areas as diverse as cognitive and social psychology. These ideas are often expressed in the form of simple heuristics, which are principles intended to explain specific aspects of cognition (Gigerenzer & Goldstein 1996, Hertwig et al. 2013, Tversky & Kahneman 1983).

There is little doubt that at least some of cognition relies on probabilistic reasoning captured by CPT reasoning, while other parts of cognition rely on a toolbox of simple heuristics. However, these two opposing views cannot easily be integrated in a formal way. A key idea motivating the use of quantum theory in cognition is that it lies between CPT models (which are constrained by strict axiomatic rules) and simple heuristics (which are free from any axiomatic constraints) by employing axioms that are less constraining than CPT but more formal and systematic than simple heuristics.

The consideration of QPT in behavioral modeling is appealing for three reasons. First, it provides a coherent explanation for the wide range of puzzling findings summarized above, using a common set of principles. For example, the same OPT principles that account for probability judgment fallacies, such as the conjunction fallacy, can also account for the disjunction effect in decision-making. Such common explanations reveal links between findings that had not previously been considered together. Second, QPT enriches psychological theory with several novel concepts, such as incompatibility, superposition, collapse, and entanglement, which are the foundation for new hypotheses and have led to the discovery of new phenomena. Finally, in a certain formal way, QPT represents the next step away from CPT (Sorkin 1994), if computations are required to have a more local focus. As discussed in the next section, in QPT there are compatible and incompatible questions. For compatible questions, everything is classical; for incompatible ones, apparent classical errors and inconsistencies arise. QPT can be considered a more local version of CPT, where, instead of having a large space of classical questions, classical inference exists only within smaller subsets of questions (which are compatible with one another); across subsets, questions are incompatible (cf. Fernbach & Sloman 2009, Lewandowsky et al. 2002, Pothos et al. 2021, Trueblood et al. 2017).

BASIC DESCRIPTION OF QUANTUM PROBABILITY THEORY

The predominance of CPT intuition has been so complete that it is hard to imagine alternatives. To understand how QPT provides an alternative form of probabilistic intuition, we briefly consider the picture of the world according to each probability theory, using Linda from the conjunction fallacy example. In each case, we have to represent our uncertain information about Linda, formulate different questions about possible characteristics she might have, and then estimate the probabilities of question outcomes (see also Busemeyer & Bruza 2011, Khrennikov 2014).

CPT begins with a sample space such as that shown in **Figure 1**, which contains all the various possible realizations for Linda, represented by the female characters. A possible outcome of a question, such as whether or not Linda is a feminist, is represented by a subset of the sample space, such as the red bounded ellipse for yes to feminism. The outcome from a pair of questions, such as whether Linda is a feminist and bank teller, is represented by the intersection of subsets, as in the shaded region of overlap between the red and blue ellipses. The beliefs a person has about these questions are represented by a probability function that assigns a probability to each subset. For example, the probability that Linda is a feminist is the probability assigned to the red ellipse. The probabilities assigned to the union of mutually exclusive events must add. The larger the subset for a question outcome is, the more possible Lindas we can imagine consistent with this question outcome, and the more likely this question outcome will be—that is, the probability of a question outcome depends on the size of the corresponding subset. Crucially, we could resolve all possible questions about Linda and identify the "real" Linda in the sample space.

Note that the subset for 'bank teller' is formed by the union of the subset for 'bank teller & feminist' with the subset for 'bank teller & not feminist.' Consequently, the probability of 'bank teller' equals the sum of the probabilities assigned to these two events and thus must exceed the probability of the single 'bank teller & feminist' event. This illustrates why the conjunction fallacy is so puzzling according to CPT.

QPT begins with what is essentially a vector space, such as the two-dimensional space shown in **Figure 3**. A vector can be thought of as a line with a specific direction and length (e.g., arrows in **Figure 3**). Such a vector space contains all possible outcomes for questions about Linda. For example, for the question "Is Linda a bank teller?" there are two question outcomes (yes or no), represented by two unit-length vectors at a 90° angle to each other, basically forming the *x* and *y* axes. Specifically, in **Figure 3**, the outcome that Linda is a bank teller is represented by the vertical axis and that she is not a bank teller by the horizontal axis. The answers to a different question, like the feminist question, can be represented by a different pair of orthogonal vectors rotated by some angle. That is, the *x* and *y* axes for different questions are related to each other through simple rotations. A vector representing a question outcome spans a one-dimensional subspace, called a ray. Subspaces are very important in QPT; QPT is a way to assign probabilities to subspaces, and the key difference between QPT and CPT is that the latter involves assigning probabilities to subspaces.

The set of beliefs a person has about these questions is represented by a (unit length) state vector (**Figure 3**). The probability of a question outcome is obtained by projecting (i.e., laying down) the state vector onto the subspace representing the answer, and then computing the squared length. To compute the conjunction of two question outcomes, we typically have to employ a sequential projection, which corresponds to resolving one question after the other. For example, suppose we are interested in P(F & BT). **Figure 3** shows that there is no single ray corresponding to both feminism and being a bank teller. Therefore, we have to compute P(F & then BT), which involves two steps. First, we project the state vector onto the F ray. Second, we project this previous projection onto the BT ray. P(F & then BT) is the squared length of the last projection. Alternatively, suppose we want to compute P(BT & then F). We first project the state vector to the BT ray and then project the resulting projection to the F ray.



Figure 3

A quantum probability theory representation of the Linda problem in two dimensions. Particular axes (one-dimensional subspaces, also called rays) correspond to question outcomes. Probabilities are computed as the squared length of the projection of the state vector onto the corresponding axis. In panel *a*, the projection onto feminism is the blue bar on the F line, and the probability equals the squared length of this bar. The red bar along the BT ray illustrates P(F & then BT). To compute P(F & then BT), first project the state vector onto the F ray, then project this previous projection onto the BT ray (follow the two red perforated lines). In panel *b*, the red bar along the F ray illustrates P(BT & then F). To compute P(BT & then F), first project the state vector onto the BT ray (follow the red perforated lines). Abbreviations: BT, bank teller; F, feminist; tilde (\sim), not.

These simple computations illustrate two key properties of QPT. First,

 $P(F \& \text{ then } BT) \neq P(BT \& \text{ then } F);$

that is, a sequence of projections can be noncommutative. Unlike in CPT, order matters, and such noncommutativity leads to interference effects (discussed in detail in the section titled Quantum Interference, below). Second, every time we resolve a question, the state vector has to change in a specific way. This is the QPT property of vector collapse (also considered below).

As for CPT, we might wonder what happens if we try to resolve as much uncertainty about Linda as possible, by considering all the possible questions about Linda. First, suppose we determine that Linda is a feminist. We would then have to place the state vector along the 'feminist' subspace, since in this way we have maximum overlap between state vector and subspace. If we then decide that Linda is not a bank teller, we would align the state vector with the subspace for 'not-bank-teller.' But a state vector aligned with the 'not-bank-teller' subspace has partial overlap with both the 'feminist' and 'nonfeminist' subspaces. That is, resolving the bank teller question made us uncertain about the feminist one!

In general, in QPT, it is often impossible to resolve all questions concurrently, and certainty about one question introduces uncertainty about others; that is, there are uncertainty relations. The impossibility of complete knowledge contrasts sharply with CPT intuition. Psychologically, at a broad level, these ideas resonate with a view of cognition as strongly context and perspective dependent (Fodor 1983). Answers to questions like whether Linda is a bank teller and a feminist in **Figure 3**, for which there are uncertainty relations, are called incompatible and are unique

to QPT. Two questions are incompatible if the presence of one question alters our perspective for the other (that is, if the questions are contextual) or if the questions are such that answering one question disturbs the relevant system for the other one. For example, we might want to ask a teenager the pair of questions "How well is the revision of your paper going?" and "What will you do this Friday night?" We can imagine that the first question makes the teenager anxious, so that he understands the second question differently than if we had asked the second question individually. Other pairs of answers can be compatible, such as whether Linda is a feminist or not and whether she has black hair or not (i.e., it seems unlikely that, for these questions, answering one changes our perspective for the other). For compatible questions, the probabilities add up just like in CPT. Therefore, when we contrast QPT with CPT below, we focus mostly on incompatible questions.

In **Figure 3**, the sequential probability P(F & then BT) is greater than the direct probability P(BT); that is, even with this simple representation, we have an example where P(F & then BT) > P(BT). Such an approach, suitably generalized, could therefore be a cognitive model for the conjunction fallacy (Busemeyer et al. 2011). An interesting question is: Why would someone ever think to use this approach to model the conjunction fallacy? There are three parts to the answer. First, CPT does not appear to offer a natural approach to understanding the conjunction fallacy (but note that there are more elaborate CPT models, which we consider below). Second, heuristic explanations developed for the original conjunction fallacy, based on, for instance, the similarity between Linda and her various possible characteristics (Tversky & Kahneman 1983), are intuitive, but vague and with limited predictive value. Third, since the conjunction fallacy problem is about probabilistic judgment, we might be biased to develop a model for the conjunction fallacy based on some kind of probability theory. What is a probability theory, not constrained in the same way as CPT, which is consistent with the intuitions expressed in the heuristic, similarity-based models for the conjunction fallacy? The most immediate answer is QPT.

One of the important points of this review is that QPT provides a notion of probabilistic correctness that is an alternative to CPT. Classically, the conjunction fallacy appears blatantly incorrect, in the same way that 1 + 1 = 3 appears incorrect (**Figure 1**). Yet if we accept the QPT axioms, a conjunction fallacy can seem reasonable. Moreover, QPT inference can be said to be rational on exactly the same basis as CPT. A hallmark of rationality in probabilistic inference is the Dutch book theorem. Suppose you have to assign probabilities to a combination of bets. The Dutch book theorem states that, if probabilities obey a small set of requirements, then you are guaranteed to be protected from a certain loss (otherwise, there may be combinations of bets such that, whatever happens, you will suffer a net loss). CPT is consistent with the Dutch book theorem requirements (Oaksford & Chater 2007), but, interestingly, so is QPT (Pothos et al. 2017). How can a decision like the conjunction fallacy be both correct and incorrect, both rational and irrational? This boils down to whether the corresponding questions can be assumed to be compatible or incompatible. If the latter, then QPT is the appropriate theory of inference; if the former, then CPT is (in which case QPT agrees with CPT). So, QPT will be the correct and rational way to approach certain questions.

In the case of an imaginary Linda, a person's understanding of what is meant by 'bank teller' in the context of questions about feminism might be different from the understanding emerging without that context, in which case the conjunction fallacy is not unreasonable. However, sometimes naïve observers represent questions as incompatible, when it seems clear that they are not. In the case of a Scandinavian person, we can easily check whether or not a person has blue eyes and blond hair, so these questions should be treated as compatible. We may conclude that the conjunction fallacy in this case is a mental error of representing as incompatible questions which are not so. Why might this occur? There is evidence that lack of familiarity or reduced effort increases the likelihood of incompatible representations (Nilsson et al. 2013, Trueblood et al. 2017). So, we can provisionally assume that QPT representations are less demanding than CPT ones and offer a more default option under reflexive versus reflective modes of reasoning (Kahneman 2001). These issues are not without practical importance. For example, in medical or legal decision-making, the rational status of an inference can be paramount (Wojciechowski & Pothos 2018).

In the following sections, we consider in more detail key QPT features that distinguish QPT from CPT and offer novel directions for behavioral research. In doing so, we describe some of the main QPT cognitive models and how they account for the puzzling findings reviewed above.

QUANTUM INTERFERENCE

Quantum interference is a unique property which concerns a breakdown of the law of total probability. Suppose we give the decision maker some preliminary information and then compare two conditions. In the first condition, we simply measure event B alone; in the second condition, we first measure event A and then measure event B. What we expect from the CPT law of total probability is the following:

$$P(B) = P(A \& B) + P(\sim A \& B).$$
 1.

Now let us see how this works with QPT. After being given the preliminary information, the decision maker is in a state represented by state vector ψ . A positive outcome from the measurement of B is represented by a projector $P_{\rm B}$ (a matrix). It projects the state vector onto the subspace representing B by the matrix product $P_{\rm B} \cdot \psi$ (above, we have considered one-dimensional subspaces, but a subspace can have any dimensionality). The probability of a positive outcome to question B then equals the squared length $||P_{\rm B} \cdot \psi||^2$ (where the double vertical bars indicate length). Consider another projector, $P_{\rm A}$, which is used to project onto a positive outcome for question A, and define $I - P_{\rm A}$ as the orthogonal projector that projects onto the negative outcome for A. Then we can rewrite the projector for B as the sum of two products: $P_{\rm B} = P_{\rm B} P_{\rm A} + P_{\rm B}(I - P_{\rm A})$. The probability of B can be broken down as follows:

$$\|P_{\rm B} \cdot \psi\|^{2} = \|P_{\rm B}P_{\rm A} \cdot \psi + P_{\rm B}(I - P_{\rm A}) \cdot \psi\|^{2} = \|P_{\rm B}P_{\rm A} \cdot \psi\|^{2} + \|P_{\rm B}(I - P_{\rm A}) \cdot \psi\|^{2} + \Delta, \qquad 2$$

where Δ is the sum of cross products produced by squaring the sum. The first term on the right of Equation 2, $||P_BP_A \cdot \psi||^2$, is P(A & B), and the second term, $||P_B(I - P_A) \cdot \psi||^2$, is $P(\sim A \& B)$. The last term, Δ , is called the interference term, which can be positive, negative, or zero. If the measures are compatible, then Δ is zero and QPT satisfies the CPT law of total probability; but if the measures are incompatible, then Δ can be negative or positive and the CPT law of total probability is violated. To emphasize the importance of the order, we usually write P(A & then B) for P(A & B), when A is measured first. Next, we show how this simple property of interference accounts for a variety of the puzzling findings mentioned above.

Probability Judgments

CPT assumes that we can resolve any combination of questions concurrently, so that we can assign a probability for any combination of question outcomes. In fact, this is required because of a property called closure—this is why CPT calculations are intractable for bounded rational agents (CPT theorists are aware of this problem and incorporate it in their modeling; e.g., Lake et al. 2015, Tenenbaum et al. 2011). By contrast, in QPT, uncertainty relations preclude the concurrent resolution of incompatible questions. Pairs of questions have to be evaluated in a sequential way, one question outcome at a time. For example, for the conjunction fallacy, we cannot evaluate P(F & BT); instead, we have to commit to an order and evaluate, for instance, P(F & then BT).

Busemeyer et al. (2011, 2015) and Franco (2009) (see also Aerts 2009, Gronchi & Strambini 2017, Miyadera & Phillips 2012) showed how QPT can account for not only the conjunction fallacy but also the disjunction fallacy, unpacking effects, and more complex conjunctions. Figure 3 illustrates a toy version of their model; however, Busemeyer et al. (2011) used a more general model, based on subspaces of arbitrary dimensionality. In Equation 2, we assume that vector ψ is determined by the Linda story; we use a projector P_{BT} to represent a positive answer to the bank teller question and a projector $P_{\rm F}$ to represent a positive answer to the feminism question. We assume that the bank teller and feminist questions are incompatible so that the interference term $\Delta \neq 0$. A conjunction fallacy in the observed direction is produced by having $\Delta < -\|P_{\rm BT}(I-P_{\rm F})\cdot\psi\|^2$, a requirement which can be justified from the way different question outcomes about Linda are expected to correlate. A similar argument can be used for the disjunction fallacy. This is a simple illustration of how, in QPT, it can be entirely correct to have a (sequential) conjunction as more probable than an individual statement. Psychologically, participants may find it hard to imagine Linda as a bank teller from the initial perspective of the story. But once they accept that Linda is a feminist, they might think that bank teller may not be such an unlikely profession for feminists. QPT sequential processes are like successive abstractions; with each question evaluated, some of the original information is lost, but new insights and perspectives may be acquired.

The same principles, and interference effects, have been used to account for over- and underextensions of membership judgments that occur with conceptual combinations (e.g., Hampton 1988a, Osherson & Smith 1981). An overextension effect occurs when the membership of an item is stronger for a conjunction of two concepts than for either concept individually. A classic example is a goldfish, which is rated as a better example of the combined concept 'pet fish' than either concept 'pet' or 'fish' individually. An underextension effect occurs when the strength of membership of an item is weaker for a disjunction of two concepts in comparison to the individual concepts. For example, an ashtray is considered a better example of 'home furnishings' in comparison to 'home furnishings or furniture.' These and related findings were modeled with QPT models by Aerts and colleagues (Aerts 2009, Aerts & Gabora 2005, Aerts et al. 2016). Such models have been intended to cover overextension and underextension effects in conceptual combination (Hampton 1988a,b), as well as noncompositionality.

Question Order Effects

According to QPT, both the conjunction fallacy and question order effects arise from the same principle: interference, which results from incompatibility. The co-occurrence of the two effects is an important a priori prediction from QPT models, which was confirmed by Yearsley & Trueblood (2018) (see also Gavanski & Roskos-Ewoldsen 1991; Stolarz-Fantino et al. 2003, experiment 2). Yearsley & Trueblood (2018) additionally showed that the extent of conjunction fallacies was within the bounds predicted by QPT.

For order effects, QPT models go a step further. QPT makes an a priori, quantitative prediction regarding order effects, called the QQ equality (Wang et al. 2014). Consider a typical question order experiment in which two binary-valued questions are asked back to back, but in different orders. The basic model in this case is very simple: The probability for a pair of answers to questions A and then B is computed from the product of projectors $P_{\rm B}P_{\rm A}\psi^2$, and the probability for the opposite order of questions is based on the reverse product $P_{\rm A}P_{\rm B}\psi^2$. Despite its simplicity, this model makes the following prediction for any dimensionality and any pair of projectors:

$$QQ = [P(A_{yes} \& \text{ then } B_{no}) + P(A_{no} \& \text{ then } B_{yes})] - [P(B_{yes} \& \text{ then } A_{no}) + P(B_{no} \& \text{ then } A_{yes})] = 0.$$
3.

The QQ equality has been considered one of the most important a priori predictions from QPT. Wang et al. (2014) examined question order effects across 70 national surveys in the USA, with the number of participants varying between 651 and 3,006, and reported good consistency with the QQ equality.

A related experimental direction concerns the ABA paradigm, whereby participants see one question followed by a different one followed, finally, by the original one. With such a paradigm, a QPT approach predicts that if the A and B questions are incompatible, then the second instance of A (measure A, then B, then A again) might produce responses different from the first instance because of interference, but not (or less so) if the questions are compatible (Khrennikov et al. 2014). Examining corresponding predictions is complicated by response biases from simply remembering the first question. Nevertheless, Busemeyer & Wang (2017) obtained results supporting the QPT predictions.

Decision-Making

We now turn to the disjunction effect, as observed in, for instance, the Prisoner's Dilemma (Shafir & Tversky 1992; see also Busemeyer et al. 2006, Croson 1999, Kvam et al. 2014, Tesař 2020). Recall that the main finding is that the probability to cooperate in the unknown condition is much higher than in both known conditions, violating the CPT law of total probability (Equation 1). Pothos & Busemever (2009) applied Equation 2 to account for the disjunction effect, using a projector $P_{\rm PD}$ to project the state vector onto the subspace for the player deciding to defect and using another incompatible projector P_{OD} for the opponent's decision to defect. Pothos & Busemeyer (2009) went a step further, using the payoffs from the game and a cognitive dissonance principle from social psychology (Festinger 1957) to build the projectors P_{PD} and P_{OD} ; they then quantitatively predicted the sign and magnitude of the interference term Δ required to account for the disjunction effect. More recent research by Broekaert et al. (2020) used a model very similar to the one used by Pothos & Busemeyer (2009) to account for the disjunction effect obtained with a two-stage gambling task (Tversky & Shafir 1992). Other QPT accounts of the disjunction effect for the Prisoner's Dilemma are presented by Asano et al. (2011), Denolf et al. (2017), and Martínez-Martínez & Sánchez-Burillo (2016); other QPT accounts of the disjunction effect for the two-stage gambling task include those by Khrennikov & Haven (2009) and Yukalov & Sornette (2011).

QPT interference was also the basis for Wang & Busemeyer's (2016) model for the disjunction effect (see also Busemeyer et al. 2009) in the categorization–decision paradigm (Townsend et al. 2000). Wang & Busemeyer (2016) built the corresponding projectors, employing payoffs in the task and the same cognitive dissonance principles as above to predict the sign and magnitude of the interference term Δ . An interesting alternative approach for the computation of interference terms in this paradigm is that presented by Moreira & Wichert (2017), who used a quantum-like network (Tucci 1995) to associate interference terms with image similarities.

Memory Recognition

In one paradigm, Brainerd, Reyna, and colleagues (Brainerd & Reyna 2008, Brainerd et al. 2015) asked participants to encode a set of memory targets, for example, a word list. Participants were presented with the targets, related distractors that were semantically related to the targets, and unrelated distractors. The test probes included "Is it is a target?", "Is it a related distractor?", and "Is it a target or a related distractor?", which produced probabilities P(T), P(R), and P(T or R), respectively. Classically, because the target and related distractor categories are mutually exclusive, we expect that P(T) + P(R) = P(T or R). The major finding is overdistribution, such that P(T) + P(R) > P(T or R). It appears that some items were being remembered as both presented

and not presented (Brainerd & Reyna 2008, Brainerd et al. 2015). An analogous subadditivity effect was also observed: P(T) + P(R) + P(NR) > 1, where NR is a nonrelated distractor and T, R, and NR constitute the set of mutually exclusive and exhaustive cues. Brainerd et al. (2015) developed a quantum recognition memory model that was viewed as a formalization of fuzzy trace theory (Reyna 2008, Reyna & Brainerd 1995). However, it relied on compatible measurements rather than using interference produced by incompatible measurements. Later, Denolf & Lambert-Mogiliansky (2016) proposed a quantum memory model in which the verbatim information and gist information were represented by incompatible measurements, and used interference to account for the results. The latter approach was extended and more rigorously tested by Trueblood & Hemmer (2017) (see also Broekaert & Busemeyer 2017).

Comparison with Alternative Models

Overall, QPT models have provided fairly straightforward accounts of a wide range of puzzling findings that have resisted compelling classical descriptions for several decades. They have provided a unified account of these various findings, such as the conjunction fallacy for probability judgments and the disjunction effect in decision-making, as arising from the common explanatory idea of interference produced by incompatible projectors. Moreover, they have led to surprising predictions, such as the QQ equality, that have advanced our understanding of constraints in behavior. However, some of these findings have already been intensely studied, at least separately. How do QPT models compare with these alternative explanations? We evaluate some of these alternative explanations, proceeding from more heuristic to more formal accounts.

First, let us examine some heuristic alternative accounts. Tversky & Kahneman's (1983) explanation of the conjunction fallacy is that it is generated by a representativeness heuristic, according to which probabilistic judgments depend on the similarity between an instance (e.g., Linda) and a category (e.g., feminists). Such an approach is very intuitive but lacks precision. QPT can be viewed as a way to formalize representativeness, because probabilities are computed as the overlap between the state vector and the subspace representing a question outcome (Sloman 1993). The advantage is that QPT can then encompass related findings beyond the conjunction fallacy and reveal commonalities between seemingly disparate phenomena. Shafir & Tversky's (1992) explanation for the disjunction effect was based on the idea of failure of consequential reasoning (for the Prisoner's Dilemma finding): When the opponent's play is known, the player can readily evaluate the consequences of each action, but when the opponent's play is unknown, these consequences become unclear. Again, this explanation is intuitive but imprecise, and QPT provides a way to make these ideas quantitatively rigorous: The effect of the two lines of reasoning that are clear when the opponent's play is known is canceled out by interference, Δ , when the opponent's play is unknown. The advantage of the quantum model is that it can lead to new predictions, notably order effects that have been shown to moderate the disjunction effect (Broekaert et al. 2020). Concerning question order effects, a well-known idea from social psychology is that these effects arise because earlier questions create a unique context or perspective for evaluating subsequent ones (Schwarz 2007). For example, an earlier judgment can activate thoughts or perspectives that alter the perception of subsequent ones. Alternatively, it is possible that a choice biases a reinterpretation of preferences to avoid cognitive dissonance (Festinger 1957). Again, the QPT model is completely consistent with these intuitive ideas from social psychology, but the advantage of QPT is the capability of making precise a priori predictions, such as the QQ equality.

Now let us turn to more formal alternative accounts. A fairly natural hypothesis regarding the conjunction fallacy is that it might arise from an erroneous cognitive rule for combining probabilities for a conjunction. Averaging models assume that both conjunctions and disjunctions are based on averages of the probabilities of the conjuncts (Abelson et al. 1987, Fantino et al. 1997, Nilsson et al. 2009), but with different weights for conjunction and disjunction. One problem with these models is that they provide no account of conditional probabilities. Additionally, unless weights change in a post hoc way, such models predict conjunction fallacies regardless of causal links between the conjuncts (high rate of conjunction fallacy) or not (lower rate). However, we expect a conjunction fallacy in cases such as "Mr. F has had one or more heart attacks and Mr. F is older than 55" but not in "Mr. F has had one or more heart attacks and Mr. G is older than 55" (Tversky & Kahneman 1983). Causal strength between the individual premises is captured particularly well by models such as inductive confirmation, which purports that probabilistic assessment follows the extent to which particular pieces of information strengthen or weaken our beliefs in an initial hypothesis (Tentori et al. 2013). A weakness of inductive confirmation is that it does not provide any explanation for disjunction errors.

Another influential approach for the conjunction fallacy is that probabilistic computation is classical, but in an error-prone way. Costello & Watts (2014) (see also Costello et al. 2018, Zhu et al. 2020, and earlier research by Dougherty et al. 1999) proposed that the mind computes probabilities via a mental sampling process, either retrieving relevant instances from one's experience (e.g., "How many women like Linda have I come across?") or generating relevant instances through a mental simulation. Importantly, the mental sampling processes for different questions are independent from one another, so that it is perfectly possible to have an estimate for a conjunction higher than an estimate for an individual premise. With an additional assumption that more complex probability terms, such as conjunctions and disjunctions, are more error prone than simpler terms, it is possible to produce conjunction and disjunction fallacies, as well as a series of probabilistic identities, that appear to be satisfied by human judgments (Costello & Watts 2018). The main concern with this research is that it has been difficult to provide a consistent approach to conditional probabilities, with differences across publications, so there is limited coverage of question order effects (Zhu et al. 2020). Also, some of the empirical results appear to go against predictions from CPT noise models (Tentori et al. 2013, Yearsley & Trueblood 2018). However, there is a key idea consistent with QPT models, namely the requirement of independent sampling for the conjunctions and the individual probabilities. QPT essentially formalizes this idea in the way that incompatibility breaks up a sample space into smaller ones. For the Linda problem, instead of having a single sample space as in Figure 1, we have a separate sample space each time a question is assessed that is incompatible with the previous one (Hughes 1989). Note that QPT models can also embody a distinction between errorless and error-prone measurement, but in Busemever et al.'s (2011) model this was not needed to cover the conjunction fallacy.

The conjunction fallacy and question order effects are the areas for which QPT models have been most closely scrutinized. The probabilistic identities produced by Costello et al. (2018) and Zhu et al. (2020) are not obeyed by the QPT model, in contrast to empirical results. This challenge has yet to be addressed by QPT. Boyer-Kassem et al. (2016) examined a QPT property called the law of reciprocity and reported violations of this property. However, this property is restricted to single-dimensional subspaces (like those shown in **Figure 3**) and does not apply to higherdimensional subspaces, such as those used by Busemeyer et al. (2011). Both Kellen et al. (2018) and Costello & Watts (2018) questioned the necessity of QPT to account for the QQ equality, and they constructed alternative models to account for this finding. Clearly, it is always easier to make up post hoc heuristics to reproduce a known result than to predict a result a priori. QPT models have also been compared with other models of order effects on inference, such as the anchoring and adjustment model (Hogarth & Einhorn 1992, McKenzie et al. 2002). However, the QPT models have been shown to provide a better account for these order effects than anchoring and adjustment models (Trueblood & Busemeyer 2011).

SUPERPOSITION AND STATE VECTOR COLLAPSE

Recall from the QPT description of the Linda questions (Figure 3) that the beliefs of a person judging Linda are represented by a state vector lying in the vector space. This state vector is not aligned with either the vector spanning the 'definitely feminist' ray or the vector spanning the 'definitely-not-feminist' ray. Instead, the state vector is a superposition state with respect to feminism, because it is formed by a linear combination of these two feminism vectors. At the same time, this state vector can also be considered a superposition with respect to 'bank teller' formed by a linear combination of the 'bank teller' vector and the 'not-bank-teller' vector. More generally, the same state vector can represent beliefs for all kinds of questions about Linda. Finally, a superposition state implies that beliefs about Linda cannot be described by a probability mixture of some conjunction of answers to the feminism and bank teller questions, because this conjunction does not even exist in this picture. In short, superposition states are not the same as probability mixtures. A superposition state contains ontic uncertainty (lack of existence of a feature) about Linda, whereas a probability mixture represents epistemic uncertainty (lack of knowledge) about an existing feature of Linda. In other words, ontic uncertainty reflects the nature of the system itself, not our lack of knowledge about it (Atmanspacher & Primas 2003, Griffiths 2013, Spekkens 2007). This way of interpreting uncertainty as superpositions is a mathematical requirement from a fundamental theorem in OPT (the Kochen-Specker theorem).

A person reaching a decision about Linda must resolve the ontic uncertainty and (probabilistically) create an answer from the superposition state. The resolution of ontic uncertainty is called the collapse of the state vector, and the state vector changes in a precise way, so that it aligns with the question outcome (related to another fundamental principle in QPT, the Lüders projection postulate). As noted above, for example, if the person decides that Linda is a feminist, then the new state will be aligned with the 'feminist' ray. That is, resolving a question changes the person's mental state.

There have been several examinations of QPT predictions regarding constructive influences and the collapse principle. White et al. (2014, 2020) employed pairs of stimuli of strong positive or negative valence, such that the second would always be rated but the first would be rated only half the time. With a simple QPT model, they predicted that the impact of rating the first stimulus would be to intensify the judgment for the second one (e.g., make it more positive if the stimulus was already positive). This prediction is called an evaluation bias and has been repeatedly confirmed. Yearsley & Pothos (2016) examined a prediction from the collapse principle called the quantum Zeno effect. In their experiment, participants were asked to judge the likelihood that a defendant was guilty of a crime after being provided with a sequence of evidence; the defendant was initially assumed to be innocent. In different conditions, participants were asked to make judgments after each of n pieces of information, with n changing across conditions. According to the collapse principle, the more intermediate judgments there were (lower n), the more likely it would be that the judgments would keep collapsing the state back to the initial one, thereby resetting the person's view that, say, Smith is innocent. This is the quantum Zeno effect, which in a decision setting is the idea that the frequency of intermediate judgments slows down opinion change (colloquially, a watched pot never boils). Zeno effects have also been investigated using quantum models with bistable perception tasks (Atmanspacher & Filk 2010).

Another interesting application of the collapse principle concerns the so-called zero priors paradox. A requirement from Bayes's rule in CPT is that if a person assigns a probability of zero or one to any hypothesis, then no new evidence can change the probability from these extremes. This rule turns out to conflict with human inferences. Basieva et al. (2017) conducted two experiments in which participants judged the likelihood of guilt for various possible candidates of a crime. The initial evidence caused participants to place zero (or very low) probability on one candidate,

but later evidence moved these zero priors to a high probability of guilt. In Basieva et al.'s (2017) quantum model, it was possible to move from zero priors to nonzero probability of guilt by taking advantage of the way an earlier decision changes the mental state.

Comparison with Alternative Models

As in the case for question order effects, social psychologists have long explained constructive influences on judgment by assuming that an earlier judgment can increase memory or attention to some information, which affects later judgments (e.g., Ariely & Norton 2008, Schwarz 2007). QPT is a way to formalize such ideas. Yearsley & Pothos (2016) compared their quantum model of the Zeno effect with a Bayesian updating model, but only the former was able to reproduce the Zeno effect. Basieva et al. (2017) compared their quantum model with a Bayesian model that assumed a very small prior instead of an exactly zero prior, but the latter was still unable to account for the large change in new evidence.

REPRESENTING SIMILARITY STRUCTURE IN VECTOR SPACES

The dimensionality of a vector space is determined by the number of orthogonal basis vectors (informally, the number of axes) required to span the space, that is, to reach every point by a linear combination. The vector space in Figure 3 is two dimensional, because only two vectors are needed to span the plane, and all subspaces are rays in the plane. However, it is not necessary, and often not even psychologically reasonable, to assume that each answer to a question is represented by a ray. Instead, subspaces can be of arbitrary dimensionality, and this dimensionality can be associated with the complexity of question outcomes. This flexibility offers a way to capture differences in extent of knowledge in similarity and categorization. For example, suppose we want to represent the concepts of '(Red) China' and '(North) Korea,' when there would be more knowledge about the former than the latter (Tversky 1977). The higher dimensionality of the China subspace would correspond to the more-available information about China, for example, about language, culture, industry, or the political system. Note that each basis vector in that subspace is not necessarily a unique feature but rather is better understood as a summary of related features. in a way analogous to the principal components in factor analysis. Differences in subspace dimensionality can be employed to model the internal structure of concepts and have allowed coverage of empirical results in the similarity literature.

The predominant approach to similarity and representation has been that concepts are points in some vector space and similarity is a simple function of the distance between points (Nosofsky 1992, Shepard 1987). However, if similarities are modeled in this way, then they must be consistent with the metric axioms, three simple properties that all distances must obey: minimality (i.e., the distance between a point to itself is zero), symmetry (i.e., the distance between two points is the same regardless of starting point), and the triangle inequality (i.e., one side of a triangle will always be less than the sum of the other two sides). Tversky (1977) reported similarity findings which sharply contrasted with all three metric axioms. For example, regarding symmetry, he reported that the similarity of China to Korea was judged to be lower than the similarity of Korea to China (Aguilar & Medin 1999, Tversky & Gati 1982). There are simple parametric ways to cover such findings within distance-based models. For example, for symmetry, distances can be multiplied by a directionality parameter that allows asymmetries (Nosofsky 1992). However, such approaches build in the asymmetry by adding parameters rather than having it follow from more basic principles.

Pothos & Trueblood (2015) and Yearsley et al. (2017) proposed that similarity can be modeled using QPT by representing the two compared objects using incompatible subspaces, so that the



Figure 4

(a) We are initially thinking about Korea (ψ is a normalized vector along the Korea ray), and the similarity to China is a projection from Korea to China. Since the Korea subspace is a ray, there is only one way to have a projection of a state from Korea to China. (b) We are initially thinking about China, but in this case there are infinite possibilities for a normalized state within the China subspace (such as ψ or ψ'). Therefore, the projection from China to Korea can likewise vary, with the maximum attained only for a specific state.

order of evaluation is important. For example, the similarity of China to Korea involves thinking about China and then about Korea, with asymmetries arising from incompatibility of subspaces, and the direction of the effect resulting from the differences in subspace dimensionality (Figure 4). This calculation is identical to that used to compute the probability of a pair of answers, so QPT assumes that the same fundamental processes are used to make similarity and probability judgments (see Shafir et al. 1990 for supporting evidence). Similarity structure in the QPT model arises from the way subspaces relate to one another; Busemeyer & Wang (2017) offered a proposal for how such representations can be computed. The QPT similarity model covers Tversky's (1977) and others' main findings in the similarity literature, including structural constraints in similarity judgment. For example, when comparing two individuals, one would compare the hair color of the first person with the hair color of the second person, not with the color of her shoes (Gentner 1983, Goldstone 1994). The QPT similarity model can be extended to capture structural constraints by employing a different space for each relevant object part and combining these individual representations into an overall one (using an operation called tensor product; Pothos & Trueblood 2015).

Comparison with Alternative Models

Similarity has been intensively studied. Tversky (1977) proposed that similarity depends on common and distinctive features, but with weights determined by which concept is the target and which the referent in a similarity comparison. Ashby & Perrin (1988) considered representations as distributions of perceptual effects from perceiving the same object. Then, the overlap between these distributions would determine similarity; this is their influential general recognition theory. Krumhansl (1978) adopted a modified distance metric, such that the local density of a point would compress or expand distance. Hahn et al. (2003) equated similarity with algorithmic transformational complexity. Pothos et al. (2013) pointed out some difficult assumptions in all these models. For example, regarding the triangle inequality, Ashby & Perrin (1988) assumed unequal perceptual distributions, and Krumhansl (1978) postulated similarity computations on subspaces of the overall space. Criticizing the OPT model, Kintsch (2014) argued that differences in extent of knowledge can be modeled without the (QPT) subspaces, in a standard representation, by employing vectors differing in length. Even though Kintsch's (2014) proposal captures differences in the extent of knowledge, the internal structure of his representations is uninformative about what this knowledge is. In the QPT model, higher-dimensionality subspaces would be associated with more basis vectors, with the latter being interpretable as features (or feature bundles).

ENTANGLEMENT

Although we have focused our attention on incompatible measurements, QPT also incorporates compatible questions. With compatible questions, QPT and CPT generally converge—with an important exception. With compatible questions, QPT, like CPT, can form events that are conjunctions of outcomes from a pair of measurements. The state vector in this case is a superposition over all possible conjunctions. A special type of superposition state for a pair of compatible questions is an entangled state, which is a state that cannot be decomposed into the product of states for each question separately. This is analogous to a dependent joint probability distribution in CPT. However, entangled quantum states can produce dependencies that are called contextual, which cannot be produced by dependent joint distributions in CPT. The term contextual refers to the idea that the meaning of one question changes depending on the other questions occurring at the time. This leads us to the notion of supercorrelation.

Any psychology student learns that the highest possible correlation between two variables is when the variables perfectly align with each other (or are perfectly opposite each other). How can it be otherwise? Suppose we have four different binary questions denoted a1, a2, b1, and b2. We can form four 2×2 joint frequency tables produced by all question combinations, $(a1 \times b1)$, $(a1 \times b2)$, $(a2 \times b1)$, and $(a2 \times b2)$. From each of these tables we can compute a correlation, denoted C(a1,b2) for the table for $(a1 \times b2)$, and so forth (strictly speaking, these are expectation values). Then, we define the quantity CHSH as equal to C(a1,b1) + C(a1,b2) + C(a2,b1) - C(a2,b2), where CHSH stands for the scientists Clauser, Horne, Shimony, and Holt, who invented this quantity to test CPT versus QPT theories (Clauser et al. 1969). Suppose that a1, b1, and a2 all maximally correlate with one another, so we find that CHSH = 3 - C(a2,b2). Classically, if a1, b1, and a2correlate maximally, then we must also find that C(a2,b2) = 1 and, thus, CHSH = 2. This value of CHSH is called Bell's bound (Bell 2004).

One of the most subtle and powerful aspects of QPT is that Bell's bound can be exceeded, in which case we say the variables are supercorrelated. For example, we could have C(a2,b2) = -1, yielding a CHSH value of 4 (but note that QPT allows *S* values only up to approximately 2.8, which is Tsirelson's bound). If C(a1,b2) = 1 and C(a2,b2) = -1, then it is as if question *b*2 is treated differently, depending on whether we consider it with question *a*1 or *a*2. We can say that question *b*2 depends contextually on which other question we have. Therefore, supercorrelation means perfect coordination between the *a* and the *b* questions, such that the *b* questions contextually depend on which *a* question we consider. Supercorrelations can arise in QPT only when the state vector for the *a* and *b* questions is entangled.

Supercorrelations indicate that questions *a*1 and *a*2 cannot be understood independently of questions *b*1 and *b*2. This lack of independence is relevant for theories of conceptual combination. For the example of a pet fish (which, as described above, relates to a conjunction fallacy), the meaning of the combination cannot be determined by independently (i.e., compositionally; Fodor 1994) combining the meaning from the individual concepts. Bruza et al. (2015a) demonstrated supercorrelations for novel, ambiguous conceptual combinations composed of two words, such that each word had two (fairly) distinct meanings. For example, in 'boxer bat,' boxer can refer to a person or a dog and bat to a sporting equipment or an animal (for a similar proposal in memory, see Bruza et al. 2009). Other researchers have focused on decisions across two pairs of questions. For example, Aerts et al. (2018) employed questions about pairs of wind directions, Cervantes & Dzhafarov (2018) posed questions about the Snow Queen fairy tale, and

Basieva et al. (2019) asked questions about meal choices. The latter two studies employed a generalized test of contextuality that takes into consideration violations of marginal consistency, which reduces to the CHSH in the special case when the marginals are consistent (as required by the CHSH inequality to test contextuality; Dzhafarov et al. 2016). Some researchers have also explored the possibility of supercorrelations in time, though direct empirical confirmations have been limited (Atmanspacher & Filk 2010, Yearsley & Pothos 2014). Aerts et al. (2018) and Busemeyer & Wang (2018) proposed models to account for measurement context effects that use both concepts of incompatible measurements and entangled states.

Comparison with Alternative Models

Busemeyer & Wang (2018) conducted two large experiments designed to investigate measurement context effects. In one study, participants were presented with public health service announcements and made binary decisions regarding six pairs of questions concerning the effectiveness of the announcements. In another study, participants viewed computer-generated avatars and made binary decisions regarding six pairs of questions formed by four measurements concerning attitudes toward the avatars. In both studies, Busemeyer & Wang (2018) showed that QPT models were superior to Bayesian causal network models for predicting the joint frequencies in the six two-way table measures. QPT models for conceptual combinations have also employed entanglement and supercorrelations (Aerts et al. 2018).

QUANTUM DYNAMICS

In psychology, probabilistic dynamic systems are most frequently modeled using Markov models, such as random walk/diffusion models of decision-making (Ratcliff et al. 2016). Quantum theory provides another general system for modeling probabilistic dynamic systems. Markov systems describe the evolution of probability distributions across time using the Kolmogorov equation. Quantum systems describe the evolution of the state vector across time using the Schrödinger equation.

One important application of both approaches has been to signal detection tasks, which require accumulation of evidence across time. Participants are presented with information across time, so that the information is sampled from one of two possible states of nature. The information is noisy, which makes the decision difficult and time-consuming. The decision maker's task is to determine which of the two states of nature is generating the information across time. At various points, the decision maker can report his or her decision.

In such tasks, the Markov and QPT models are similar, but there is a critical difference when successive measurements are taken across time. The Markov model obeys a type of law of total probability across time, called the Chapman–Kolmogorov equation, but the QPT model allows violations of this law. Kvam et al. (2015) tested the two types of dynamic models using a perceptual decision paradigm, in which participants had to judge the predominant motion direction in a dynamic dot display. In a choice–confidence condition, participants studied the dots, made a decision regarding motion, studied the dots again, and finally provided a confidence rating. In a confidence-only condition, participants simply studied the dots and then provided the confidence rating should be identical across the two conditions, but this was not the case. The difference between the conditions revealed an interference effect predicted by the quantum model. Additionally, better fits were provided by Kvam et al.'s (2015) QPT model as compared with a matching Markov one.

A second critical difference between Markov and QPT models concerns the way dynamics evolve across time. Traditional Markov models of evidence accumulation predict a monotonic



Figure 5

Oscillation and interference predicted by quantum dynamics. The vertical line indicates the time point when a choice was made for the condition with choice, followed by preference ratings across time, and the red curve represents the predictions for this condition. The blue curve represents the predictions when no choice was made at the vertical line. The choice attenuates the oscillation.

growth in the mean of the accumulation across time, making multiple preference reversals plausible only in multiattribute choice and even, in such cases, dependent on the particular way the available options are compared (Diederich 2003, Johnson & Busemeyer 2005, Usher & McClelland 2001). By contrast, the typical dynamics in QPT predict systematic oscillation effects across time. Thus, QPT dynamical models are suitable when we expect ambivalence and rumination in the decision process.

Kvam et al. (2020) tested these predictions using a preference task. Participants were given a choice between two coupons for restaurants that differed with respect to quality, cost, and distance. Participants were asked for preference ratings at several time points, with and without a prior choice. As for Kvam et al. (2015), the prior choice produced interference effects. Moreover, the authors found that preferences systematically oscillated across time, as predicted by a QPT model (**Figure 5**).

Comparisons with Alternative Models

Kvam et al. (2015) compared the predictions for choice and confidence from a quantum walk model with those from a Markov random walk model using a Bayes factor, and the Bayes factor favored the quantum model for the majority of participants. Busemeyer et al. (2019) compared the two models using a generalization test: The model parameters were estimated from two timing intervals for measuring confidence, and these same parameters were then used to predict the confidence ratings for a third time interval. The quantum walk model produced more accurate generalization predictions. Markov and quantum walk models have also been compared using choice and response time distributions. Fuss & Navarro (2013) found a small advantage for a quantum dynamic model over a Markov random walk model for predicting choice and response time in a signal detection type of task. The oscillatory feature of QPT dynamics offers a precise expression of ideas in social psychology that, sometimes, we go through several cycles of back-and-forth before making up our mind (Brehm & Wicklund 1970, Walster 1964).

INTEGRATING CLASSICAL AND NONCLASSICAL PROBABILITIES

The final feature of QPT we discuss concerns the way QPT models can bring together both QPT and CPT probabilistic inference. The results discussed above indicate that QPT thinking emerges when there is less familiarity with a problem and participants are responding in a more reflexive way, and vice versa concerning CPT thinking (Trueblood et al. 2017). QPT thinking can be considered less complex than CPT thinking. In the former case, because of incompatibility, we can embed the representations for several questions in the same low-dimensionality space, but for the latter, the amount of probabilistic information increases rapidly (exponentially) with increasing questions (cf. Atmanspacher & Romer 2012, Pothos et al. 2021). Therefore, QPT might serve as a default thinking mode, gradually replaced by CPT as experience with a task accumulates, and depending on the importance of the task in the first place.

Trueblood et al. (2017) studied the relations between CPT and QPT in the case of causal reasoning, using Rehder's (2014) paradigm. Causal reasoning concerns how information about causes affects conclusions about possible effects. For example, a fallacy in causal reasoning is to confuse effects and causes by considering the probability of an effect given a cause as the same as the probability of a cause given an effect. It appears that there is a CPT component to human causal reasoning, as well as influences from several biases. Trueblood et al. (2017) and Mistry et al. (2018) proposed a model which would reflect varying degrees of quantumness. In one extreme case, all representations would be quantum (incompatible); in another, classical (compatible); and intermediate cases were included, too, such that some representations would be quantum and some classical. With this framework, these authors were able to offer a unified description of results in causal reasoning, for which Rehder (2014) had employed four separate components (a CPT one and three heuristic ones).

SUMMARY EVALUATION OF QUANTUM PROBABILITY THEORY MODELS

QPT models have worked best when it appears that there are interference effects, the mental state is altered by earlier choices or measurements, and questions are contextual (i.e., the meaning of any question depends on which other questions are present). There have been several compelling heuristic ideas and models designed individually for each separate result, across very different theoretical traditions (e.g., Brainerd et al. 1999, Hogarth & Einhorn 1992, Schwarz 2007, Tversky & Kahneman 1983). We suggest that a main advantage of quantum cognitive models is that they provide a single and common set of coherent, formal principles to accommodate the role of measurement and contextuality in cognition, across disparate cognitive areas. Several findings that have been considered separately, such as conjunction and disjunction fallacies, question order effects, and disjunction effects in decision-making, have been shown using QPT to have the same theoretical origin—interference in this case—and have been explained with similar models. In other cases, separate models can be subsumed into a single QPT one (e.g., as done in Trueblood et al. 2017 for the separate model components presented in Rehder 2014).

We have reviewed several examples of successful QPT cognitive models, but not all (e.g., Al Nowaihi & Dhami 2017, Basieva et al. 2017, Blutner et al. 2013, Favre et al. 2016, LaMura 2009). We expect that there will be cases where QPT models fail, for example, when the circumstances are appropriate for CPT reasoning (as Trueblood et al. 2017 considered) or when neither QPT

nor CPT can offer satisfactory descriptions. Indeed, there are examples of QPT papers reporting problems with QPT models (Busemeyer et al. 2009). However, existing critical research for QPT models appears to rely on concepts already embodied in QPT (notably, the independent sampling assumption of Costello & Watts 2014); offers redescriptions of results in heuristic terms, which can always happen (Kellen et al. 2018); or focuses on limited QPT models (Boyer-Kassem et al. 2016). Overall, most (but not all) comparisons between QPT and matched classical models (CPT or otherwise) have favored the QPT models. There is a simple explanation: Most QPT modeling has focused on empirical situations that appear to embody key properties of QPT, such as interference and/or collapse. QPT models suit such situations particularly well, so it is unsurprising that they offer good descriptions of empirical results.

If QPT models embody both incompatible and compatible representations, but CPT ones only the latter, is it not the case that QPT models will always be more complex than CPT ones? This is not necessarily true. QPT models typically employ incompatible questions so that a complexity consideration involves a QPT model with incompatible questions and a broadly matched CPT one. Several model comparisons have incorporated complexity and still favored QPT models over matched CPT ones (Broekaert et al. 2020, Busemeyer et al. 2015, Mistry et al. 2018, Trueblood & Hemmer 2017, Trueblood et al. 2017). Another issue concerns whether QPT models have implications for the neural substrate supporting cognition. The explanatory objective of QPT models is best stated using Griffiths et al.'s (2010) approach, as top-down or function-first models which focus on the mathematical principles that characterize behavior (see also Marr 1982). As such, implications for neuronal implementation are limited, and, in particular, QPT cognitive models do not require quantum processes at the neurophysiological level (cf. Litt et al. 2006). In any case, there have been proposals for how the interference terms required for QPT models can naturally arise from neuronal processes (Khrennikov et al. 2018, Suppes et al. 2012).

Can the novel theoretical concepts offered by QPT models translate to generative value? We have discussed several surprising predictions, some entirely unexpected on the basis of predominant theory. For example, the QQ equality shows that response probabilities for several different question pairs combine in a very precise way, as predicted by QPT theory (Wang et al. 2014). The co-occurrence of conjunction fallacy and question order effects is another unique prediction from QPT, and that connection was never made by the earlier heuristic accounts (Yearsley & Trueblood 2018). Even though it has been well established that decisions can alter a mental state, inertia in opinion change from multiple decisions (quantum Zeno effect) offers new support for the specific account of constructive changes in QPT (Yearsley & Pothos 2016). Oscillations during evidence accumulation and interference effects of choice on later confidence are also surprising predictions generated by QPT (Kvam et al. 2020).

The key weakness of QPT models is that we are still unsure which conditions are necessary or sufficient to produce incompatible representations. It is straightforward to conclude that, in some cases, CPT complexity will be intractably complex for bounded agents. But why should a drive to simplify from CPT translate to QPT, as opposed to, for example, heuristics or bounded rational approximations to CPT? There are a few possible answers. QPT might be the next best thing to CPT, in that, as noted above, representations are locally classical—that is, there are subsets of compatible questions, but across subsets we have incompatibility and thus nonclassical effects (Fernbach & Sloman 2009, Lewandowsky et al. 2002, Pothos et al. 2021). Beim Graben & Atmanspacher (2006) considered how incompatibility between classical questions can sometimes emerge if the description of the answers to some question are coarse, so that questions have some irreducible fuzziness regarding possible outcomes. Finally, Aerts & Sassoli de Bianchi (2015) proposed that the quantum probability rule in cognition arises from averaging across experimental conditions. Consider a typical decision experiment, in which participants are asked to assign probabilities to possibilities. Suppose that different participants employ different probability rules. According to Aerts & Sassoli de Bianchi (2015), averaging across participants can be shown to reduce to the QPT rule for probabilistic assignment, which is why quantum theory appears successful in cognitive applications.

These ideas have yet to be fleshed out in a satisfactory way. However, the situation is analogous to the application of QPT in physics—successful empirical applications by far predated the developmental of foundational arguments (Hardy 2001). Moreover, incompatibility can always be empirically determined, for example, with question order effects, constraining any subsequent predictions. We finish with three key points. First, if one thinks that probabilistic inference is an important part of cognition, then he or she should not be restricted to just CPT. Second, QPT is the most established alternative to CPT. Third, the progress of the QPT cognitive program has so far been very promising.

CONCLUDING COMMENTS

QPT offers to psychology several new concepts with potential explanatory value, a sophisticated framework for modeling, and the potential to formalize powerful intuitions which have so far been heuristically explained. QPT cognitive models appear to work particularly well in certain empirical cases, such as when it appears that there is interference, constructive influences, or contextuality, and it is in this area that researchers in this community have focused their efforts. At the same time, we believe that we have only scratched the surface of QPT models in terms of their potential to revolutionize psychological theory. This is a challenge for the next 10 years.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

E.M.P. was supported by the US Office of Naval Research Global under grant N62909-19-1-2000. J.R.B. was supported by the US Air Force Office of Scientific Research under grant FA9550-15-1-0343 and the US National Science Foundation under grant SES-1560554. We thank Joyce Wang, Jennifer Trueblood, and James Yearsley, as well as John Wixted for his many helpful comments.

LITERATURE CITED

- Abelson RP, Leddo J, Gross PH. 1987. The strength of conjunctive explanations. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 13:141–55
- Aerts D. 2009. Quantum structure in cognition. See Bruza & Gabora 2009, pp. 314-48
- Aerts D, Aerts S. 1995. Applications of quantum statistics in psychological studies of decision processes. Found. Sci. 1:85–97
- Aerts D, Arguëlles JA, Beltran L, Geriente S, Sassoli de Bianchi M, et al. 2018. Spin and wind directions. I. Identifying entanglement in nature and cognition. *Found. Sci.* 23:323–35
- Aerts D, Gabora L. 2005. A theory of concepts and their combinations I. Kybernetes 34:151-75
- Aerts D, Sassoli de Bianchi M. 2015. The unreasonable success of quantum probability. I: Quantum measurements as uniform fluctuations. J. Math. Psychol. 67:51–75
- Aerts D, Sozzo S, Veloz T. 2016. New fundamental evidence of non-classical structure in the combination of natural concepts. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A* 374:20150095

Aguilar CM, Medin DL. 1999. Asymmetries of comparison. Psychon. Bull. Rev. 6:328-37

Al Nowaihi A, Dhami S. 2017. The Ellsberg paradox: a challenge to quantum theory? J. Math. Psychol. 78:40-50

Ariely D, Norton MI. 2008. How actions create-not just reveal-preferences. Trends Cogn. Sci. 12:13-16

Asano M, Ohya M, Tanaka Y, Khrennikov A, Basieva I. 2011. On application of Gorini-Kossakowski-Sudarshan-Lindblad equation in cognitive psychology. Open Syst. Inf. Dyn. 18:55–69

Ashby GF, Perrin NA. 1988. Towards a unified theory of similarity and recognition. Psychol. Rev. 95:124–150

- Ashtiani M, Azgomi MA. 2015. A survey of quantum-like approaches to decision making and cognition. *Math. Soc. Sci.* 75:49–80
- Atmanspacher H, Filk T. 2010. A proposed test of temporal nonlocality in bistable perception. J. Math. Psychol. 54:314–21
- Atmanspacher H, Primas H. 2003. Epistemic and ontic quantum realities. In *Time, Quantum and Information*, ed. L Castell, O Ischebeck, pp. 301–21. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer
- Atmanspacher H, Romer H. 2012. Order effects in sequential measurements of non-commuting psychological observables. J. Math. Psychol. 56:274–80
- Atmanspacher H, Römer H, Walach H. 2002. Weak quantum theory: complementarity and entanglement in physics and beyond. *Found. Phys.* 32:379–406
- Bar-Hillel M, Neter E. 1993. How alike is it versus how likely is it: a disjunction fallacy in probability judgments. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 65:1119–31
- Basieva I, Cervantes VH, Dzhafarov EN, Khrennikov A. 2019. True contextuality beats direct influences in human decision making. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 148:1925–37
- Basieva I, Pothos EM, Trueblood J, Khrennikov A, Busemeyer JR. 2017. Quantum probability updating from zero priors (by-passing Cromwell's rule). J. Math. Psychol. 77:58–69
- Beim Graben P, Atmanspacher H. 2006. Complementarity in classical dynamical systems. Found. Phys. 36:291– 306
- Bell JS. 2004. Speakable and Unspeakable in Quantum Mechanics. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Bergus GR, Chapman GB, Levy BT, Ely JW, Oppliger RA. 1998. Clinical diagnosis and order of information. Med. Decis. Mak. 18:412–17
- Blutner R, Pothos EM, Bruza P. 2013. A quantum probability perspective on borderline vagueness. Top. Cogn. Sci. 5:711–36
- Bohr N. 1958. Atomic Physics and Human Knowledge. New York: Wiley
- Bordley RF. 1998. Quantum mechanical and human violations of compound probability principles: toward a generalized Heisenberg uncertainty principle. *Oper. Res.* 46:923–26
- Boyer-Kassem T, Duchene S, Guerci E. 2016. Quantum-like models cannot account for the conjunction fallacy. *Theory Decis.* 81:479–510
- Brainerd CJ, Reyna VF. 2008. Episodic over-distribution: a signature effect of familiarity without recognition. J. Mem. Lang. 58:765–86
- Brainerd CJ, Reyna VF, Mojardin AH. 1999. Conjoint recognition. Psychol. Rev. 106:160-79
- Brainerd CJ, Wang Z, Reyna VF, Nakamura K. 2015. Episodic memory does not add up: Verbatim-gist superposition predicts violations of the additive law of probability. *J. Mem. Lang.* 84:224–45
- Brehm JW. 1956. Post-decision changes in the desirability of choice alternatives. J. Abnorm. Soc. Psychol. 52:384–89
- Brehm JW, Wicklund RA. 1970. Regret and dissonance reduction as a function of post decision salience of dissonant information. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 14:1–7
- Broekaert JB, Busemeyer JR. 2017. A Hamiltonian driven quantum-like model for overdistribution in episodic memory recollection. Front. Phys. 5:23
- Broekaert JB, Busemeyer JR, Pothos EM. 2020. The disjunction effect in two-stage simulated gambles: an experimental study and comparison of a heuristic logistic, Markov and quantum-like model. *Cogn. Psychol.* 117:101262
- Bruza PD, Gabora L, eds. 2009. Quantum cognition. J. Math. Psychol. 53(5)
- Bruza PD, Kitto K, Nelson D, McEvoy C. 2009. Is there something quantum-like about the human mental lexicon? See Bruza & Gabora 2009, pp. 362–77
- Bruza PD, Kitto K, Ramm B, Sitbon L. 2015a. A probabilistic framework for analysing the compositionality of conceptual combinations. J. Math. Psychol. 67:26–38
- Bruza PD, Wang Z, Busemeyer JR. 2015b. Quantum cognition: a new theoretical approach to psychology. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 19:383–93

- Busemeyer JR, Bruza P. 2011. Quantum Models of Cognition and Decision Making. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Busemeyer JR, Kvam PD, Pleskac TJ. 2019. Markov versus quantum dynamic models of belief change during evidence monitoring. Sci. Rep. 9:18025
- Busemeyer JR, Matthew M, Wang ZA. 2006. Quantum game theory explanation of disjunction effects. In Proceedings of the 28th Annual Conference of the Cognitive Science Society, ed. R Sun, N Miyake, pp. 131–35. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum
- Busemeyer JR, Pothos E, Franco R, Trueblood JS. 2011. A quantum theoretical explanation for probability judgment 'errors'. Psychol. Rev. 118:193–218
- Busemeyer JR, Wang J. 2018. Hilbert space multi-dimensional modelling. Psychol. Rev. 125:572-91
- Busemeyer JR, Wang J, Pothos EM, Trueblood JS. 2015. The conjunction fallacy, confirmation, and quantum theory: comment on Tentori, Crupi, & Russo 2013. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 144:236–43
- Busemeyer JR, Wang Z. 2017. Is there a problem with quantum models of psychological measurements? *PLOS* ONE 12:e0187733
- Busemeyer JR, Wang Z, Lambert-Mogiliansky A. 2009. Empirical comparison of Markov and quantum models of decision making. See Bruza & Gabora 2009, pp. 423–33
- Busemeyer JR, Wang Z, Shiffrin RM. 2015. Bayesian model comparison favors quantum over standard decision theory account of dynamic inconsistency. *Decision* 2(1):1–12
- Carlson BW, Yates JF. 1989. Disjunction errors in qualitative likelihood judgment. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 44:368–79
- Cervantes VH, Dzhafarov EN. 2018. Snow Queen is evil and beautiful: experimental evidence for probabilistic contextuality in human choices. *Decision* 5(3):193–204
- Clauser JF, Horne MA, Shimony A, Holt RA. 1969. Proposed experiment to test local hidden-variable theories. Phys. Rev. Lett. 23:880–84
- Costello F, Watts P. 2014. Surprisingly rational: Probability theory plus noise explains biases in judgment. Psychol. Rev. 121:463–80
- Costello F, Watts P. 2018. Invariants in probabilistic reasoning. Cogn. Psychol. 100:1-16
- Costello F, Watts P, Fisher C. 2018. Surprising rationality in probability judgment: assessing two competing models. *Cognition* 170:280–97
- Croson R. 1999. The disjunction effect and reason-based choice in games. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 80:118-33
- de Finetti B, Machi A, Smith A. 1993. Theory of Probability: A Critical Introductory Treatment. New York: Wiley
- Denolf J, Lambert-Mogiliansky A. 2016. Bohr complementarity in memory retrieval. *J. Math. Psychol.* 73:28–36 Denolf J, Martínez-Martínez I, Josephy H, Barque-Duran A. 2017. A quantum-like model for complementarity
- of preferences and beliefs in dilemma games. J. Math. Psychol. 78:96–106
- Diederich A. 2003. MDFT account of decision making under time pressure. Psychon. Bull. Rev. 10:157-66
- Dougherty MR, Gettys CF, Ogden EE. 1999. MINERVA-DM: a memory processes model for judgments of likelihood. Psychol. Rev. 106:180–209
- Dulany DE, Hilton D. 1991. Conversational implicature, conscious representation, and the conjunction fallacy. Soc. Cogn. 9:85–110
- Dzhafarov EN, Zhang R, Kujala J. 2016. Is there contextuality in behavioural and social systems? *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A* 374:20150099
- Elqayam S, Evans JSBT. 2013. Rationality in the new paradigm: strict versus soft Bayesian approaches. *Think. Reason.* 19:453–70
- Fantino E, Kulik J, Stolarz-Fantino S. 1997. The conjunction fallacy: a test of averaging hypotheses. Psychon. Bull. Rev. 1:96–101
- Favre M, Wittwer A, Heinimann HR, Yukalov VI, Sornette D. 2016. Quantum decision theory in simple risky choices. PLOS ONE 11:e0168045
- Fernbach PM, Sloman SA. 2009. Causal learning with local computations. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 35:678–93

Festinger L. 1957. *A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance*. Redwood City, CA: Stanford Univ. Press Fodor G. 1994. Concepts: a potboiler. *Cognition* 50:95–113

- Fodor JA. 1983. The Modularity of Mind. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Franco R. 2009. The conjunctive fallacy and interference effects. See Bruza & Gabora 2009, pp. 415-22
- Fuss IG, Navarro DJ. 2013. Open parallel cooperative and competitive decision processes: a potential provenance for quantum probability decision models. *Top. Cogn. Sci.* 5:818–43
- Gavanski I, Roskos-Ewoldsen DR. 1991. Representativeness and conjoint probability. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 61:181–94
- Gentner D. 1983. Structure-mapping: a theoretical framework for analogy. Cogn. Sci. 7:155-70
- Gigerenzer G, Goldstein D. 1996. Reasoning the fast and frugal way: models of bounded rationality. Psychol. Rev. 103:650–69
- Gigerenzer G, Todd PM. 1999. Simple Heuristics That Make Us Smart. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Gilboa I. 2000. Theory of Decision Under Uncertainty. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Goldstone RL. 1994. Similarity, interactive activation, and mapping. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 20:3-28
- Griffiths RG. 2013. A consistent quantum ontology. Stud. Hist. Philos. Sci. B 44:93-114
- Griffiths TL, Chater N, Kemp C, Perfors A, Tenenbaum JB. 2010. Probabilistic models of cognition: exploring representations and inductive biases. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 14:357–64
- Gronchi G, Strambini E. 2017. Quantum cognition and Bell's inequality: a model for probabilistic judgment bias. J. Math. Psychol. 78:65–75
- Hahn U, Chater N, Richardson LB. 2003. Similarity as transformation. Cognition 87:1-32
- Hameroff SR. 2007. The brain is both a neurocomputer and quantum computer. Cogn. Sci. 31:1035-45
- Hampton JA. 1988a. Disjunction of natural concepts. Mem. Cogn. 16:579-91
- Hampton JA. 1988b. Overextension of conjunctive concepts: evidence for a unitary model for concept typicality and class inclusion. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 14:12–32
- Hardy L. 2001. Why quantum theory? arXiv:quant-ph/0111068
- Haven E, Khrennikov A. 2013. Quantum Social Science. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Hertwig R, Hoffrage U, ABC Res. Group. 2013. Simple Heuristics in a Social World. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Hogarth RM, Einhorn HJ. 1992. Order effects in belief updating: the belief-adjustment model. *Cogn. Psychol.* 24:1–55
- Holyoak KJ, Simon D. 1999. Bidirectional reasoning in decision making by constraint satisfaction. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 128:3-31
- Hughes RIG. 1989. The Structure and Interpretation of Quantum Mechanics. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press
- Johnson JG, Busemeyer JR. 2005. A dynamic, stochastic, computational model of preference reversal phenomena. Psychol. Rev. 112:841–61
- Kahneman D. 2001. Thinking, Fast and Slow. London: Penguin
- Kahneman D, Slovic P, Tversky A. 1982. Judgment Under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases. New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Kellen D, Singmann H, Batchelder WH. 2018. Classic-probability accounts of mirrored (quantum-like) order effects in human judgments. *Decision* 5:323–38
- Khrennikov A. 1999. Classical and quantum mechanics on information spaces with applications to cognitive, psychological, social, and anomalous phenomena. *Found. Phys.* 29:1065–98
- Khrennikov A, Basieva I, Dzhafarov EN, Busemeyer JR. 2014. Quantum models for psychological measurements: an unsolved problem. PLOS ONE 9:e110909
- Khrennikov A, Basieva I, Pothos EM, Yamato I. 2018. Quantum probability in decision making from quantum information representation of neuronal states. Sci. Rep. 8:16225
- Khrennikov A, Haven E. 2009. Quantum mechanics and violations of the sure-thing principle: the use of probability interference and other concepts. See Bruza & Gabora 2009, pp. 378–88
- Khrennikov AY. 2014. Ubiquitous Quantum Structure. Berlin: Springer
- Kintsch W. 2014. Similarity as a function of semantic distance and amount of knowledge. *Psychol. Rev.* 121:559–61
- Krumhansl CL. 1978. Concerning the applicability of geometric models to similarity data: the interrelationship between similarity and spatial density. *Psychol. Rev.* 85:445–63

- Kvam PD, Busemeyer JR, Lambert-Mogiliansky A. 2014. An empirical test of type-indeterminacy in the Prisoner's Dilemma. In *Quantum Interaction*, ed. H Atmanspacher, E Haven, K Kitto, D Raine, pp. 213–24. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer. Lect. Notes Comput. Sci. Vol. 8369
- Kvam PD, Busemeyer JR, Pleskac TJ. 2020. Temporal oscillations in preference strength provide evidence for an open system model of constructed preference. PsyArXiv, May 13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-87659-0
- Kvam PD, Pleskac TJ, Yu S, Busemeyer JR. 2015. Interference effects of choice on confidence: quantum characteristics of evidence accumulation. PNAS 112:10645–50
- Lake BM, Salakhutdinov R, Tenenbaum JB. 2015. Human-level concept learning through probabilistic program induction. *Science* 350:1332–38
- LaMura P. 2009. Projective expected utility. See Bruza & Gabora 2009, pp. 408-14
- Lewandowsky S, Kalish M, Ngang SK. 2002. Simplified learning in complex situations: knowledge partitioning in function learning. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 131:163–93
- Lichtenstein S, Slovic P, eds. 2006. The Construction of Preference. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Litt A, Eliasmith C, Kroon FW, Weinstein S, Thagard P. 2006. Is the brain a quantum computer? Cogn. Sci. 30:593-603
- Lu M, Busemeyer JR. 2014. Do traditional Chinese theories of Yi Jing ("Yin-Yang") and Chinese medicine go beyond Western concepts of mind and matter? *Mind Matter* 12(1):37–59
- Marr D. 1982. Vision: A Computational Investigation into the Human Representation and Processing of Visual Information. San Francisco: Freeman
- Martínez-Martínez I, Sánchez-Burillo E. 2016. Quantum stochastic walks on networks for decision-making. Sci. Rep. 6(1):23812
- McKenzie CRM, Lee SM, Chen KK. 2002. When negative evidence increases confidence: change in belief after hearing two sides of a dispute. *J. Behav. Decis. Mak.* 15:1–18
- Mistry PK, Pothos EM, Vandekerckhove J, Trueblood JS. 2018. A quantum probability account of individual differences in causal reasoning. J. Math. Psychol. 87:76–97
- Miyadera T, Phillips T. 2012. A quantum probability theoretic account of human judgment errors: an axiomatic approach. In *Proceedings of the 34th Annual Conference of the Cognitive Science Society*, ed. N Miyake, D Peebles, RP Cooper, pp. 2014–18. Red Hook, NY: Curran
- Moore DW. 2002. Measuring new types of question order effects. Public Opin. Q. 66:80-91
- Moreira C, Wichert A. 2017. Exploring the relations between quantum-like Bayesian networks and decisionmaking tasks with regard to face stimuli. J. Math. Psychol. 78:86–95
- Moro R. 2009. On the nature of the conjunction fallacy. Synthese 171:1-24
- Nilsson H, Rieskamp J, Jenny MA. 2013. Exploring the overestimation of conjunctive probabilities. *Front. Psychol.* 4:101
- Nilsson H, Winman A, Juslin P, Hansson G. 2009. Linda is not a bearded lady: configural weighting and adding as the cause of extension errors. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 138:517–34
- Nosofsky RM. 1992. Similarity scaling and cognitive process models. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 43:25-53
- Oaksford M, Chater N. 1994. A rational analysis of the selection task as optimal data selection. *Psychol. Rev.* 101:608–31
- Oaksford M, Chater N. 2007. Bayesian Rationality: The Probabilistic Approach to Human Reasoning. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Osherson DN, Smith EE. 1981. On the adequacy of prototype theory as a theory of concepts. *Cognition* 9(1):35–58
- Perfors A, Tenenbaum JB, Griffiths TL, Xu F. 2011. A tutorial introduction to Bayesian models of cognitive development. Cognition 120:302–21
- Pothos EM, Busemeyer JR. 2009. A quantum probability explanation for violations of 'rational' decision theory. Proc. R. Soc. B 276:2171–78
- Pothos EM, Busemeyer JR. 2013. Can quantum probability provide a new direction for cognitive modeling? Behav. Brain Sci. 36:255–327
- Pothos EM, Busemeyer JR, Shiffrin RM, Yearsley JM. 2017. The rational status of quantum cognition. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 146:968–87

- Pothos EM, Busemeyer JR, Trueblood JS. 2013. A quantum geometric model of similarity. *Psychol. Rev.* 120:679–96
- Pothos EM, Lewandowsky S, Basieva I, Barque-Duran A, Tapper K, Khrennikov A. 2021. Information overload for (bounded) rational agents. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 288:20202957
- Pothos EM, Trueblood JS. 2015. Structured representations in a quantum probability model of similarity. *J. Math. Psychol.* 64:35–43
 - Ratcliff R, Smith PL, Brown SD, McKoon G. 2016. Diffusion decision model: current issues and history. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 20(4):260–81
 - Rehder B. 2014. Independence and dependence in human causal reasoning. Cogn. Psychol. 72:54-107
 - Reyna VF. 2008. A theory of medical decision making and health: fuzzy trace theory. *Med. Decis. Mak.* 28:850–65
 - Reyna VF, Brainerd CJ. 1995. Fuzzy-trace theory: an interim synthesis. Learn. Individ. Differ. 7(1):1-75
 - Rottenstreich Y, Tversky A. 1997. Unpacking, repacking, and anchoring: advances in support theory. Psychol. Rev. 104:406–15
 - Savage L. 1954. The Foundations of Statistics. New York: Wiley
 - Schwarz N. 2007. Attitude construction: evaluation in context. Soc. Cogn. 25:638-56
 - Shafir EB, Smith EE, Osherson DN. 1990. Typicality and reasoning fallacies. Mem. Cogn. 18:229-39
 - Shafir EB, Tversky A. 1992. Thinking through uncertainty: nonconsequential reasoning and choice. Cogn. Psychol. 24:449–74
 - Sharot T, Velasquez CM, Dolan RJ. 2010. Do decisions shape preference? Evidence from blind choice. Psychol. Sci. 21:1231–35
 - Shepard RN. 1987. Toward a universal law of generalization for psychological science. Science 237:1317-23
 - Simon HA. 1955. A behavioral model of rational choice. Q. J. Econ. 69:99-118
 - Sloman SA. 1993. Feature-based induction. Cogn. Psychol. 25:231-80
 - Sloman SA. 1996. The empirical case for two systems of reasoning. Psychol. Bull. 119:3–22
 - Sloman SA, Rottenstreich Y, Wisniewski E, Hadjichristidis C, Fox CR. 2004. Typical versus atypical unpacking and superadditive probability judgment. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 30:573–82
 - Sorkin RD. 1994. Quantum mechanics as quantum measure theory. Mod. Phys. Lett. A 9:3119-27
 - Spekkens RW. 2007. Evidence for the epistemic view of quantum states: a toy theory. Phys. Rev. A 75:032110
 - Stolarz-Fantino S, Fantino E, Zizzo DJ, Wen J. 2003. The conjunction effect: new evidence for robustness. Am. 7. Psychol. 116:15–34
 - Suppes P, de Barros JA, Oas G. 2012. Phase-oscillator computations as neural models of stimulus-response conditioning and response selection. *J. Math. Psychol.* 56:95–117
 - Tenenbaum JB, Kemp C, Griffiths TL, Goodman N. 2011. How to grow a mind: statistics, structure, and abstraction. *Science* 331:1279–85
 - Tentori K, Bonini N, Osherson D. 2004. The conjunction fallacy: a misunderstanding about conjunction? Cogn. Sci. 28:467–77
 - Tentori K, Crupi V, Russo S. 2013. On the determinants of the conjunction fallacy: probability versus inductive confirmation. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 142:235–55
 - Tesař J. 2020. A quantum model of strategic decision making explains the disjunction effect in the Prisoner's Dilemma game. *Decision* 71:43–54
 - Townsend JT, Silva KM, Spencer-Smith J, Wenger M. 2000. Exploring the relations between categorization and decision making with regard to realistic face stimuli. *Pragmat. Cogn.* 8:83–105
 - Trueblood JS, Busemeyer JR. 2011. A quantum probability account of order effects in inference. *Cogn. Sci.* 35:1518–52
 - Trueblood JS, Hemmer P. 2017. The generalized quantum episodic memory model. Cogn. Sci. 41:2089-25
 - Trueblood JS, Yearsley JM, Pothos EM. 2017. A quantum probability framework for human probabilistic inference. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 146:1307–41
 - Tucci R. 1995. Quantum Bayesian nets. Int. J. Mod. Phys. B 9:295-337
 - Tversky A. 1977. Features of similarity. Psychol. Rev. 84:327-52
 - Tversky A, Gati I. 1982. Similarity, separability, and the triangle inequality. Psychol. Rev. 89:123-54
 - Tversky A, Kahneman D. 1983. Extensional versus intuitive reasoning: the conjunctive fallacy in probability judgment. Psychol. Rev. 90:293–315

Tversky A, Shafir E. 1992. The disjunction effect in choice under uncertainty. Psychol. Sci. 3:305-9

Usher M, McClelland JL. 2001. The time course of perceptual choice: the leaky, competing accumulator model. *Psychol. Rev.* 108:550–92

Walster E. 1964. The temporal sequence of post-decision processes. In Conflict, Decision, and Dissonance, ed. L Festinger, pp. 112–28. Redwood City, CA: Stanford Univ. Press

Wang Z, Busemeyer JR. 2016. Interference effects of categorization on decision making. Cognition 150:133-49

Wang Z, Solloway T, Shiffrin RM, Busemeyer JR. 2014. Context effects produced by question orders reveal quantum nature of human judgments. PNAS 111:9431–36

Wendt A. 2015. Quantum Mind and Social Science. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press

- White LC, Pothos EM, Busemeyer JR. 2014. Sometimes it does hurt to ask: the constructive role of articulating impressions. *Cognition* 133:48–64
- White LC, Pothos EM, Jarrett M. 2020. The cost of asking: how evaluations bias subsequent judgments. Decision 7:259–86
- Winman A, Nilsson H, Juslin P, Hansson G. 2010. Linda is not a bearded lady: weighting and adding as a cause of extension errors. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 138:517–34
- Wojciechowski BW, Pothos EM. 2018. Is there a conjunction fallacy in legal probabilistic decision making? Front. Psychol. 9:391
- Yearsley JM. 2017. Advanced tools and concepts for quantum cognition: a tutorial. J. Math. Psychol. 78:24-39
- Yearsley JM, Barque-Duran A, Scerrati E, Hampton JA, Pothos EM. 2017. The triangle inequality constraint in similarity judgments. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 130:26–32
- Yearsley JM, Busemeyer JR. 2016. Quantum cognition and decision theories: a tutorial. *J. Math. Psychol.* 74:99–116
- Yearsley JM, Pothos EM. 2014. Challenging the classical notion of time in cognition: a quantum perspective. Proc. R. Soc. B 281:1471–79
- Yearsley JM, Pothos EM. 2016. Zeno's paradox in decision making. Proc. R. Soc. B 283:20160291
- Yearsley JM, Trueblood JS. 2018. A quantum theory account of order effects and conjunction fallacies in political judgments. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 25:1517–25
- Yukalov VI, Sornette D. 2011. Decision theory with prospect interference and entanglement. *Theory Decis.* 70:283–328
- Zhu J, Sanborn AN, Chater N. 2020. The Bayesian sampler: generic Bayesian inference causes incoherence in human probability judgments. *Psychol. Rev.* 127:719–46

Annual Review of Psychology

Volume 73, 2022

Contents

Recollecting What We Once Knew: My Life in Psycholinguistics <i>Lila R. Gleitman and Claire Gleitman</i>
Memory and Reward-Based Learning: A Value-Directed Remembering Perspective Barbara J. Knowlton and Alan D. Castel
Normative Principles for Decision-Making in Natural Environments Christopher Summerfield and Paula Parpart
Speech Computations of the Human Superior Temporal Gyrus Ilina Bhaya-Grossman and Edward F. Chang
Cognitive, Systems, and Computational Neurosciences of the Self in Motion <i>Jean-Paul Noel and Dora E. Angelaki</i>
Exploring Cognition with Brain–Machine Interfaces Richard A. Andersen, Tyson Aflalo, Luke Bashford, David Bjånes, and Spencer Kellis
Brain Mechanisms Underlying the Subjective Experience of Remembering Jon S. Simons, Maureen Ritchey, and Charles Fernyhough
Neurophysiology of Remembering György Buzsáki, Sam McKenzie, and Lila Davachi
The Basis of Navigation Across Species Cody A. Freas and Ken Cheng 217
Computational Psychiatry Needs Time and Context Peter F. Hitchcock, Eiko I. Fried, and Michael J. Frank
Persistence and Disengagement in Personal Goal Pursuit Veronika Brandstätter and Katharina Bernecker
Social Motivation at Work: The Organizational Psychology of Effort for, Against, and with Others <i>Adam M. Grant and Marissa S. Shandell</i>

Attitudes, Habits, and Behavior Change Bas Verplanken and Sheina Orbell 327
Childhood Antisocial Behavior: A Neurodevelopmental Problem Stephanie H.M. van Goozen, Kate Langley, and Christopher W. Hobson
Human Cooperation and the Crises of Climate Change, COVID-19, and Misinformation <i>Paul A.M. Van Lange and David G. Rand</i>
Diversity Training Goals, Limitations, and Promise: A Review of the Multidisciplinary Literature <i>Patricia G. Devine and Tory L. Ash</i>
Psychology and Indigenous People Roberto González, Héctor Carvacho, and Gloria Jiménez-Moya
Psychology Within and Without the State H. Clark Barrett
Personality Psychology Brent W. Roberts and Hee J. Yoon
Personal Values Across Cultures Lilach Sagiv and Shalom H. Schwartz
Educational Psychology Is Evolving to Accommodate Technology, Multiple Disciplines, and Twenty-First-Century Skills <i>Arthur C. Graesser, John P. Sabatini, and Haiying Li</i>
Cultivating Resilience During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Socioecological Perspective <i>Ning Zhang, Shujuan Yang, and Peng Jia</i>
What Are the Health Consequences of Upward Mobility? Edith Chen, Gene H. Brody, and Gregory E. Miller 599
The Social Effects of Emotions Gerben A. van Kleef and Stéphane Côté 629
Catching Up on Multilevel Modeling Lesa Hoffman and Ryan W. Walters
Optimizing Research Output: How Can Psychological Research Methods Be Improved? <i>Jeff Miller and Rolf Ulrich</i>
Replicability, Robustness, and Reproducibility in Psychological Science Brian A. Nosek, Tom E. Hardwicke, Hannah Moshontz, Aurélien Allard, Katherine S. Corker, Anna Dreber, Fiona Fidler, Joe Hilgard, Melissa Kline Struhl, Michèle B. Nuijten, Julia M. Rohrer, Felipe Romero, Anne M. Scheel, Laura D. Scherer, Felix D. Schönbrodt, and Simine Vazire

Quantum Cognition	
Emmanuel M. Pothos and Jerome R. Busemeyer	

Indexes

Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 63–73	. 779
Cumulative Index of Article Titles, Volumes 63–73	. 784

Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Psychology* articles may be found at http://www.annualreviews.org/errata/psych